AGENDA

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
FRIDAY — AUGUST 18, 2023 - 9:00 A.M.
SAN RAFAEL CITY HALL
1400 FIFTH AVENUE - CONFERENCE ROOM CD3
SAN RAFAEL, CALIFORNIA 94901

Members of the Public may also participate in Open Session through the
following:

Zoom link: https://cityofsanrafael-org.zoom.us/j/83792027349

Or by Phone: 1669 444 9171 US

Meeting ID: 837 9202 7349

Public comments for this meeting can be submitted via email to the District Clerk
at Kathryn.Nelson@cityofsanrafael.org. The public comment period opens when
the agenda is posted online and will close two hours prior to the start of the
meeting. Include your name and the item you would like to provide a written
comment on.

To provide comments during the meeting, please use the “raise hand” feature in the
Zoom Meeting and the host will notify and unmute you when it is your turn to
speak.

Members of the public may speak on Agenda items.

1. ROLL CALL
2. OPEN PERIOD

Opportunity for the public to address the Board on items not on the agenda.
(Presentations are generally limited to 2 minutes.)

3. CONSENT CALENDAR

a. Minutes of the Meeting —August 4, 2023.
b. Payments — none.
c. Adopt resolution awarding contract for the 2023 Sewer Pipe Burst Project.



OTHER AGENDA ITEMS

a. Discuss and adopt resolution establishing the sewer connection fee for FY
2023-24.

b. Discuss the San Rafael Sanitation District’s Response to the 2023-24 Marin
County Civil Grand Jury Report: “Build More ADUs — An Rx to Increase
Marin’s Housing Supply.”

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS
DIRECTOR REPORTS/REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

ADJOURNMENT
The next scheduled meeting is September 15, 2023.



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
Minutes of the Special Meeting
August 4, 2023

Special Meeting In Person
The meeting was called to order at 1:07 P.M. by Chair Kate.

Attendance Kate Colin, Chair
Board: Maribeth Bushey, Secretary/Director
Katie Rice, Director

Attendance Doris Toy, District Manager/District Engineer
Staff: Kris Ozaki, Operations and Maintenance Manager
Kathryn Nelson, Administrative Analyst

Attendance John Maher, CPA Maher Accountancy
Other: Dean DiGiovanni, CMSA Commissioner for SRSD

3a

1. ROLL CALL

A roll call was taken at 1:08 P.M., Director Bushey, Director Rice and Chair Kate were
present. There being a quorum, the meeting began.

2. OPEN PERIOD
No one was present to address the Board for open period.

3. CONSENT CALENDAR
a. Minutes of the Meeting — June 16, 2023.

b. Payments — June 2023 and July 2023.
c. Adopt resolution approving the budget for Fiscal Years 2023-24 and 2024-25.

d. Adopt resolution awarding contract for the Isolation Valve Replacement Project.

MOTION by Director Bushey to adopt the Consent Calendar, seconded by Chair Kate.

AYES: Director Bushey, Director Rice, Chair Kate
NOES: None
ABSENT:  None Motion Carried



OTHER AGENDA ITEMS
a. Review and approve District Financial Reserve Policy Statement. (John Maher)

John Maher reviews the proposed District Financial Reserve Policy Statement with the
Board and notes minor corrections of the Statement pursuant to the Boards requests. The
Board Approves the District Financial Reserve Policy Statement with the noted
corrections.

MOTION by Director Rice to adopt the District Financial Reserve Policy Statement with minor
corrections, seconded by Director Bushey.

Director Bushey, Director Rice, Chair Kate
None

ABSENT: None Motion Carried

INFORMATIONAL ITEMS

District Manager Toy updates the Board regarding the full-time Administrative Assistant
position that has been filled by Rainbow Williams. Also, the Senior Civil Engineer
position’s salary has been increased per approval by the City Council with a title change
to Principal Engineer. The recruiting for the positions of Principal Engineer and Jr.
Assistant Engineer will close on August 7t

DIRECTOR REPORTS/REQUESTS FOR FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS

District Manager Toy reports that there will be a Special Study Session after the Regular
Meeting on August 18™,

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business to come before the Board, the special meeting of August
4, 2023, was adjourned at 2:08 P.M. with the next scheduled meeting on August 18,
2023.

Respectfully submitted,

Maribeth Bushey, Recording Secretary

ATTEST THIS 18th DAY OF AUGUST 2023

Kate Colin, Chair



3¢
SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT

Agenda Item No. 3.c.

DATE: August 18, 2023

TO: Board of Directors, San Rafael Sanitation District

FROM: Doris Toy, District Manager/District Engineer

SUBJECT: Adopt Resolution Awarding Contract for the 2023 Sewer Pipe Burst Project

RECOMMENDATION:

Adopt resolution awarding contract to Hardiman Construction, Inc., for the 2023 Sewer Pipe Burst
Project in the amount of $638,475.00.

BACKGROUND:

The 2023 Pipe Burst Project was developed by our sewer maintenance staff that require immediate
attention due to poor access or pipe conditions, and they are less complex to design so that we
were able to design by in-house staff. The project consists of replacing approximately 2,530 LF
of sewer pipe with 6-inch and 8-inch HDPE (high-density polyethylene) pipe at seven different
locations by the pipe burst method and replacing its lower laterals. The repair will be performed
by the pipe burst method.

On July 26, 2023, and August 4, 2023, the District published a notice inviting bids for the 2023
Sewer Pipe Bust Project and bids were opened on August 15, 2023.

The following is the Engineer’s Estimate and a list of the bids received:

Engineer’s Estimate $1,011,040.00
Hardiman Construction, Inc. $ 638,475.00
Glossage Engineering, Inc. $ 770,860.00
APB General Engineering $ 778,325.00
KJ Woods Construction, Inc. $1,088,000.00
Precision Engineering, Inc. $1,212,350.00

Please see the attached bid summary for an itemized breakdown of the items.

ANALYSIS:

The Engineer’s Estimate for the bid was $1,011,040.00. Hardiman Construction, Inc. with a bid
of $638,475.00, was the lowest responsible bidder for this project. They have performed small
projects for the District in the past at reasonable costs and completed them successfully. Hardiman
would like to work on larger projects for the District. This project would be a good fit, since it is
a straightforward pipe burst project.

District staff has reviewed Hardiman’s submitted bid package and is recommending that this
project be awarded to Hardiman Construction, Inc.



FISCAL IMPACT:

Hardiman Construction’s total bid amount is $638,475.00. This construction project will be
funded under the 80-Year Life Cycle Sewer Replacement Program from the FY 2023-24 Budget.

OPTIONS:
1) Staff recommends that the Board award the contract to Hardiman Construction, Inc.

2) The Board may reject all bids and rebid the project. Staff does not recommend this option
since this will delay the start of construction and costs may increase.

ACTION REQUIRED:

Staff recommends that the Board adopt the resolution awarding contract to Hardiman
Construction, Inc., for the 2023 Sewer Pipe Burst Project in the amount of $638,475.00.

Attachments:
1. Bid Summary
2. Resolution



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT Rid Onenina® 10:00 AM

MARIN COUNTY, CALIFORNIA August 15, 2023 3c
2023 SEWER PIPE BURST PROJECT
BID RESULTS SUMMARY Engineer’s Est: $1,011,040
1 2 3 4 )
Hardiman . . APB Gerenal K.J. Woods Construction - . .
. Glosage Engineering Inc . - Precision Engineering
Construction Inc. Engineering Inc.
Item | Qu. | U/M [Description Unit Price Total Unit Price | Total Amount | Unit Price Total Unit Price | Total Amount (| Unit Price | Total Amount
No. Amount Amount
Sl P z‘l"_‘;?s/ ?;amn"sﬁ/o i\?’;’;’; | :eig)“”s & Licenses $20,000 $20,000 $36,000 $36,000(  $34,000 $34,000(  $54,000 $54,000(  $60,000 $60,000
2. SPRING GROVE AVE - 8” C-900 OPEN TRENCH REPAIR
2 LF | sTA0+02TOSTA 0522 $1,000 $20,000] $280 $5,600) $475 $9,500) $800 $16,000| $400 $8,000]
3 aa0 | LE :‘;RWIES _GSRT(;VOE)r gszEc; ST)AE;%EST NEW §” HDPE $165 $56,100) $184 $62,560) $200 $68,000) $375 $127,500) $200 $68,000
4 134 | LF W CRESCENT DR —PIPEBURST NEW 67 HDPE SEWER $350 $46,900) $340 $45,560) $190 $25,460) $350 $46,900) $200 $26,800)
5. | 387 | LF [HIGHLAND AVE — PIPEBURST NEW 6” HDPE SEWER $150 $58,050) $180 $69,660) $175 $67,725| $325 $125,775| $200 $77,400)
& 832 | LF ALEXANDER AVE ~PIPEBURST NEW 6" HDPE SEWER $140 $116,480) $185 $153,920| $175 $145,600) $325 $270,400) $200 $166,400
7. | 398 | LF |SCENIC AVE - PIPEBURST NEW 6” HDPE SEWER $150 $59,700) $225 $89,550) $200 $79,600) $280 $111,440| $200 $79,600)
8 | 305 | LF |GLENPARK AVE-PIPEBURST NEW 6” HDPE SEWER $140 $42,700) $207 $63,135| $175 $53,375| $300 $91,500) $200 $61,000
9 | 137 | LF |PEARCERD - PIPEBURST NEW 6” HDPE SEWER $155 $21,235| $205 $28,085| $175 $23,975| $325 $44,525| $200 $27,400)
10. 24 EA zﬁgA'\T’\‘A(?JTS:g\;ER CLEANOUT, RELEASE VALVE AND $500 $12,000] $1,500 $36,000] $650 $15,600) $800 $19,200| $2,500 $60,000]
1. 17 EA ggmﬁgg O EXISTING MANHOLE, REBUILD $2,000 $34,000] $1,100 $18,700| $1,120 $19,040| $500 $8,500) $2,000 $34,000
12 600 | LF ECE)F,’\I",\‘AECCET‘I‘S:\‘EWER LATERALS, FITTINGS & $40 $24,000] $80 $48,000| $205 $123,000] $70 $42,000] $200 $120,000
13 1 EA ESEASA\;E\IES_ERNAL AND INSTALL INTERNAL DROP $6,500 $6,500] $8,000 $8,000] $3,000 $3,000] $7,000 $7,000] $4,000 $4,000]
14. 25 SF |CONCRETE SIDEWALK AND DRIVEWAY APPROACH $40 $1,000 $42 $1,050) $100 $2,500) $200 $5,000) $30 $750
15. | 250 | TONS [ASPHALT CONCRETE TRENCH REPAIR $20 $5,000 $200 $50,000 $250 $62,500 $150 $37,500 $300 $75,000
16. 1 LS |SHORING FOR ALL EXCAVATIONS $45,000 $45,000] $8,900 $8,900) $7,500 $7,500] $28,000 $28,000] $145,000 $145,000
17. 1 LS |REPLACE PAVEMENT MARKINGS $20,000 $20,000 $3,250 $3,250 $2,500 $2,500 $5,000 $5,000 $20,000 $20,000
8. | 17 EA |POTHOLE UTILITY MAINS $50 $850) $750 $12,750| $750 $12,750| $800 $13,600) $500 $8,500)
19. 1 LS |TRAFFIC CONTROL AND NOTIFICATIONS $30,000 $30,000 $15,000 $15,000 $6,500 $6,500 $22,000 $22,000 $145,000 $145,000
20. 1 LS |TELEVISE NEW SEWER MAINS $16,000 $16,000] $6,000 $6,000] $5,000 $5,000] $8,000 $8,000] $10,000 $10,000]
21 | 46 EA [TELEVISE NEW SEWER LATERALS $10 $460] $90 $4,140 $200 $9,200 $50 $2,300 $250 $11,500
22. 1 LS |AS-BUILT DRAWINGS $2,500 $2,500] $5,000 $5,000] $2,000 $2,000] $1,860 $1,860) $4,000 $4,000]
TOTAL] $638,475 $770,860 $778,325 $1,088,000 $1,212,350
Contingencies and Incidentals (15%), $0) $0 $0, $0, $0
GRAND TOTAL $638,475 $770,860 $778,325 $1,088,000 $1,212,350
Check Percentage Bid Item 1 to Total Project (5% max) 3.1% 4.7% 4.4% 5.0% 4.9%
Addendum Acknowledged none none none none none
Bid Bond B B [ | 5]
Contract Signed ] [] [7] 1 [4]
License Number] ] ] [ = [+
Non-Collusion Affidavit [ [ [] | [
Contractors License Number| 1065111 1028046 1038184 701797 880266
DIR Number|
SUBCONTRACTORS] [ none [ none [ none [ none [ none
Subcontractors|
Site Visit Affidavit
Drug-Free Certification|
Bidder's Statement Financial Responsibility &
Three Year EMR < 1.0
RIR <5.5
LTIR < 2.0
Financial Qualifications (Credit Report) Submitted|
Safety Compliance Affidavit

1: Not Legible

2: Contractor meets only one of either RIR or LTIR maximums and shall be required to hire at no additional cost to the District a mutually acceptable safety consultant who will prepare a project specific safety plan, conduct
random weekly inspections of the Contractor's activities to ensure conformance with the safety plan and prepare and submit a weekly report to the District summarizing the results of each inspection. The Contractor shall
adhere to the safety plan. The Contractor's activities shall be adjusted immediately to address any issues resulting from the weekly safety inspection.

lofl



SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
RESOLUTION NO. 23-1275
A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF THE SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
AWARDING CONTRACT TO HARDIMAN CONSTRUCTION, INC.
FOR THE 2023 SEWER PIPE BURST PROJECT
WHEREAS, sealed bids or proposals were received by the San Rafael
Sanitation District for the 2023 Sewer Pipe Burst Project, and all such bids were publicly
opened, examined, and declared; and
WHEREAS, the bid or proposal of Hardiman Construction, Inc., at the
quotation stated in their bid, was and is the lowest responsible bid or proposal; and
NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the Chair and
Secretary are authorized to execute a contract on behalf of the San Rafael Sanitation
District with Hardiman Construction, Inc., for construction of the 2023 Sewer Pipe Burst
Project, in accordance with the terms, specifications, and general provisions of said bid
or proposal.
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all other bids or proposals are hereby
rejected, and the District Manager/District Engineer is directed to return all accompanying

certified checks, cash, and bonds of said unsuccessful bidders.

3c



PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the San Rafael
Sanitation District Board of Directors held on the 18th day of August 2023 by the
following vote, to wit:

AYES:
NOES:

ABSENT:

Kate Colin, Chair

ATTEST:

Maribeth Bushey, Secretary



4a

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
Agenda Item 4a.
DATE: August 18, 2023
TO: San Rafael Sanitation District Board of Directors
PREPARED BY: Doris Toy, District Manager/District Engineer

SUBJECT: Discuss and Adopt Resolution Establishing Sewer Connection Fees
For FY 2023-24

RECOMMENDATION:
Staff recommends that the Board of Directors of the San Rafael Sanitation District adopt the
resolution.

BACKGROUND:

Ordinance No. 56, Section 5 (Annual Connection Fee Adjustment), which was adopted March 1,
2006, states that each year, commencing on July 1, 2006, and continuing thereafter on each July
15t, the sewer connection fees shall be adjusted by an increment determined by the change in the
base index as shown in the Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (ENR Index) for
San Francisco. However, the District Board may, at its discretion, postpone the adjustment for
any successive year.

ANALYSIS:

The last sewer connection fee increase was in FY 2020-21, where a Single Family Residence,
Multiple Dwelling/unit, and Commercial building for first 16 fixture units was $3,804.00 and the
May 2020 ENR Index was 12,819.17. This year, the ENR Index for May 2023 is 15,595.35,
which results in a 21.66% increase in the District’s connection fees (from May 2020).

The following is a table that shows the ENR Index and SRSD’s connection fees and their
percentage increase per year for Single Family Residents from FY 2016-17 to FY 2023-24.

SRSD Single Family Residents Connection Fees

Engineering News Record SRSD
Construction Cost Index
Fiscal Year May Cost Index Increase/Yr | ConnectionFee | Increase/Yr
2016-17 11,550.40 3.41% $3,427.74 3.41%
2017-18 11,691.03 1.21% $3,469.22 1.21%
2018-19 12,014.72 2.77% $3,565.32 2.77%
2019-20 12,333.48 2.65% $3,659.80 2.65%
2020-21 12,819.17 3.94% $3,804.00 3.94%
2021-22 13,425.35 4.73% $3,804.00 0.00%
2022-23 15,326.99 14.16% $3,804.00 0.00%
2023-24 15,595.35 1.75% $4,627.81* 21.66%*

*FY 2023-24 Sewer Connection Fee is proposed amount.



For the two years that the District did not increase its connection fees, i.e. FY 2021-22, the May
2021 ENR Index increased by 4.73% and FY 2022-23, the May 2022 ENR Index increased by
14.16%. This year, the May 2023 ENR Index increased by 1.75%. However, since the District
held the same connection fees for the last two years, the ENR Index has increased by 21.66%.

FISCAL IMPACT:
The following are the proposed connection fees for FY 2023-2024 with an increase of 21.66%:

Connection Fees FY 20-21
FY 21-22 FY 23-24 Change
FY 22-23
Administrative/lnspection $1,580.45 $1,922.78 $342.33
Single Family Residence $3,804.00 $4,627.95 $823.95
Multiple Dwelling/unit $3,804.00 $4,627.95 $823.95
Commercial for first 16
plumbing fixture units $3,804.00 $4,627.95 $823.95
Each Fixture unit over 16 $237.74 $289.23 $51.49
Public schools & Public agencies
for first 16 plumbing fixture $3,804.00 $4,627.95 $823.95
units
Each Fixture unit over 16 $237.74 $289.23 $51.49
OPTIONS:

1. The Board may decide not to adopt the resolution. In the future when the Board does decide
to increase the connection fees, it may be a much larger increase.

2. Staff recommends increasing the connection fees in small increments, such as annually, and
adopting the resolution to increase the sewer connection fees for FY 2023-24.

ACTION REQUIRED:

It is the recommendation of District staff that the Board of Directors of the San Rafael Sanitation
District adopt the resolution increasing sewer connection fees in accordance with Ordinance
Number 56, effective July 1, 2023 — June 30, 2024.

Attachment: Resolution



4a

SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
RESOLUTION NO. 23-1274

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
OF THE SAN RAFAEL SANITATION DISTRICT
INCREASING SEWER CONNECTION FEES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH ORDINANCE NUMBER 56
EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2023 - JUNE 30, 2024

WHEREAS, an important element of the San Rafael Sanitation District's
Financing Plan for Wastewater Transport System Improvements was the need for
regular adjustments of the District's sewer connection charges; and

WHEREAS, said Financing Plan recommended annual adjustments to
said charges to stay even with construction cost inflation; and

WHEREAS, the most widely accepted measure of change in construction

costs is the Engineering News Record Construction Cost Index (ENR Index); and

WHEREAS, District Ordinance Number 56, adopted March 1, 2006,
revised sewer connection fees and provided for an annual adjustment based on the
change in said Construction Cost Index; and

WHEREAS, the District sewer connection fees have not changed since
FY 2020-21; and

WHEREAS, the ENR Index for May, 2023, would result in an increase of
21.66% in District sewer connection fees.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the Board of
Directors of the San Rafael Sanitation District, County of Marin, State of California, that
effective July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024, sewer connection fees are established as
follows:

SECTION 1. Section 4 of Ordinance Number 56 is hereby amended to read as
follows:

SECTION 4. Connection fees. The connection fees for connecting to the

District’s sewer system are as follows:



(a) Basic Connection Fee

Administrative/Inspection fee $1,922.78
Single family residence $4,627.95
Multiple dwelling, per unit $4,627.95
Commercial establishments $4,627.95

for the first 16 plumbing fixture

units plus $289.23 for each fixture
unit over 16

Public schools and public agencies $4,627.95
for the first 16 plumbing fixture
units plus $289.23 for each fixture
unit over 16

PASSED AND ADOPTED at a regular meeting of the San Rafael
Sanitation District Board of Directors held on the 18™ day of August 2023 by the

following vote:

AYES:
NOES:

ABSENT/ABSTAIN:

Kate Colin, Chair

ATTEST:

Katie Rice, Acting Secretary



! 4b

Aé 2022-2023 Marin County Civil Grand Jury

Build More ADUs - An Rx to Increase

Marin’s Housing Supply
June 15, 2023

SUMMARY

As a result of California’s new state mandated Housing Element, Marin County and all its
municipalities are obligated to build 14,210 new housing units by 2031.* Accessory Dwelling
Units (ADUs) can help fill that need.

Marin County’s housing production is not keeping pace with demand. The lack of housing
supply to meet people’s needs impacts affordability and causes average housing costs,
particularly for renters in Marin, to rise significantly. As affordable housing becomes less
accessible, people drive longer distances between homes they can afford and their workplace, or
pack themselves into smaller shared spaces, both of which reduce quality of life and produce
negative environmental impacts.

There was a Marin woman,
who lived ina shoe..
\, S0 she appliedl fora lot split;

YARIN IMPEPEMIATORNAL ‘ZE/J:a
ependent Journal
* Note: The law does not require a lot split to build an ADU

One approach that could help achieve these housing goals is based upon a recognition that many
property owners and residents reside on land on which they could build additional or secondary
housing units. These second units, variously called granny flats, in-law units, garage houses, and
under state law “Accessory Dwelling Units” (ADUs) and “Junior Accessory Dwelling Units"
(JADUSs) have become an increasingly popular form of housing. Unfortunately, they have not
always been treated as “legal” under local law. Now, California law has effectively legalized

14,171 (very low income <50 percent AMI (Area Median Income), 2,400 (low income <80 percent AMI), 2,182
5,652 Total: 14,405. https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-

04/Final_ RHNA_Methodology Report 2023-2031 March2022_Update.pdf (accessed March 6, 2023):
www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-and-research/accessory-dwelling-units/ Several Marin jurisdictions” Housing Elements
make similar arguments; Ross, Appendix C-15.



https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-04/Final_RHNA_Methodology_Report_2023-2031_March2022_Update.pdf
https://abag.ca.gov/sites/default/files/documents/2022-04/Final_RHNA_Methodology_Report_2023-2031_March2022_Update.pdf
http://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-and-research/accessory-dwelling-units

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

their construction and occupancy.? Because building these units (a) does not require purchasing
additional land, (b) can be added to existing structures and (c) can have fewer construction
requirements than traditional single family houses on a square foot basis, they may be built less
expensively. California’s new law recognizes that ADUs can help fulfill the state’s housing
mandate, and can do so affordably and with a lesser impact on land use and the environment.®
Contrary to the sentiment expressed in the introductory cartoon, neither the “Marin woman who
lived in a shoe” nor anyone else has to “apply for a lot split” before building an ADU.

Allowing ADUEs in single-family and multifamily residential zones provides additional rental
housing stock which are an essential component of the housing supply in California.* Every
Marin jurisdiction has increased ADU production, but there are a number of improvements that
can be made to accelerate this process. This report highlights best practices in Marin and other
Bay Area communities and suggests ways to facilitate development of ADUs and Junior
Accessory Dwelling Units (collectively herein “ADUs”).

ADU development has grown throughout the county since 2019.° Marin County’s local
governments’ recently enacted Housing Elements assume that 9.5 percent of their required
housing units could be fulfilled with ADUs.® One planning model shows a potential of 9,500
units, which is 66 percent of the requirement.” For example, in Vancouver, Canada, 35 percent of
single family houses have ADUs.®

2 https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-and-research/accessory-dwelling-units (accessed March 6, 2023)

3 Calif. Gov. Code 65852.2 (m). A local agency may count an accessory dwelling unit for purposes of identifying
adequate sites for housing, as specified in subdivision (a) of Section 65583.1, subject to authorization by the
department and compliance with this division.

4 SB 1069 (2016). M. Nolan Gray, “The Housing Revolution is Coming,” The Atlantic, October 5, 2022

> Cities and County Housing Element Submissions 2022. Marin County, 2023-2031 Regional Housing Needs
Assessment Appeal Request, July 9, 2021 notes the County’s goal of increasing the supply of Accessory Dwelling
Units along the City Centered Corridor.

& Marin County’s share of the region’s housing allocation is 3.265 percent while Sonoma County’s share is 3.3
percent. https://abag.ca.gov/our-work/housing/rhna-regional-housing-needs-allocation (Accessed March 6, 2023).
7 https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/SB-9-Brief-July-2021-Final.pdf (accessed March 6,
2023). This approach uses an algorithm based on mapping the community.

8 https://www.sightline.org/2016/02/17/why-vancouver-trounces-the-rest-of-cascadia-in-building-adus/ (Accessed
March 6, 2023).

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 2 of 21


https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-and-research/accessory-dwelling-units
https://abag.ca.gov/our-work/housing/rhna-regional-housing-needs-allocation
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/SB-9-Brief-July-2021-Final.pdf
https://www.sightline.org/2016/02/17/why-vancouver-trounces-the-rest-of-cascadia-in-building-adus/

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

Table 1
Marin County and Cities
Housing Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) Requirements and
Projected ADUs by 2031

Communities ADU History gc?:l I‘:ﬁl(\)l;
RHNA | 2018 | 2019 | 2020 | 2021 | 2022 || *23-31

Belvedere 160 4 0 0.00
Corte Madera 725 7 4 20 21 100 13.79
Fairfax 490 14 16 11 12 86 17.55
Larkspur 979 6 6 6 48 4.90
Mill Valley 865 0 16 16 29 1 160 18.50
Novato 2,090 6 10 16 27 118 5.65
Ross 11| o 1 3 10 80| 72.07
San Anselmo 833 6 22 24 160 19.21
San Rafael 3,220 78 200 6.21
Sausalito 724 10 10 12 15 64 8.84
Tiburon 639 4 5 5 11 72 11.27
Unincorporated
Marin 3,569

37 32 35 280 7.85
Total Units 14,405 1,368 9.50

Source: 2022 Housing Elements submitted by County and municipalities;
Sausalito: Housing Element HBR-120, Table 56 HBR-95 calculations. Accessed December 2022.

Many community planning professionals have argued these additional second units could benefit
property owners as an additional source of income, assistance for older residents who could
“retire in place” or a place for caregivers, as well as a home for family members. Community
rewards might include housing for the local workforce, integrating energy-efficient housing, and
reduced overcrowding.®

BACKGROUND

What is an ADU?

An ADU is an accessory dwelling of a primary residence and has complete independent living
facilities for one or more persons. There are different types of ADUs:

* Detached: The unit is separated from the primary structure.
* Attached: The unit is attached to the primary structure.

* Converted Existing Space: A space (e.g., primary bedroom, attached garage, storage
area or similar use, or an accessory structure) on the lot of the primary residence that is
converted into an independent living unit.

® https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-and-research/accessory-dwelling-units (Accessed March 9, 2023). Several Marin
jurisdictions” Housing Elements make similar arguments; Ross, Appendix C-15.

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 3 of 21


https://www.hcd.ca.gov/policy-and-research/accessory-dwelling-units

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

« Junior Accessory Dwelling Unit (JADU): A specific type of conversion of existing
space that is contained entirely within an existing or proposed single-family residence.°

ADUSs are not new. In previous eras they were given a variety of names, e.g., in-law units,
backyard cottages, or granny units. They are quite common throughout the United States and
California. In California, which has passed a series of laws enabling the use of ADUs, permits
rose to nearly 20,000 in 2021 from about 1,200 in 2016.%*

The addition of ADUs to neighborhoods may promote what Jane Jacobs, in her book The Death
and Life of Great American Cities, called "social capital,” "mixed primary uses,” and "eyes on
the street."!? This “gentle density” permits a range of casual public interactions which promote
safety, contact, and the assimilation of children.

Planning, financing, and building an ADU is straightforward. It requires suitable land, a means to
finance the project, and the ability to find a qualified building contractor. Fortunately, there are a
number of public and private organizations that can help. For example, the CASITA Coalition
provides individual homeowners guides and directions for how to work with public agencies,
identify financing options, and even provides examples of building plans.*®

ADUs Can Be Affordable to Build

Because of their small footprint, ADUs are significantly less expensive to build than new
detached single-family homes. They also offer benefits that address common development
barriers, such as land use and environmental sustainability. Because ADUs must be built on lots
with existing or proposed housing, they do not require paying for new land or other costly
infrastructure often required to build a new single-family home. It’s a way to add capacity within
the existing footprint, a strategy planners sometimes call “gentle density.”* ADUs do not require
much government investment in infrastructure, and they reduce energy consumption and costs.

JADUs are contained inside existing or proposed single-family homes, and thus require
relatively modest renovations and can be more affordable to complete. ADUs are often built with
cost-effective one- or two-story wood frames, which are also less expensive than other
construction types. Additionally, prefabricated ADUs (e.g., manufactured housing and factory-
built housing) can be directly purchased and can further reduce construction time and cost.
ADUs can provide as much living space as apartments and condominiums, and work well for
couples, small families, friends, young people, and seniors.

ADUs Can Be Affordable for Renters

A regional survey of ADU affordability was conducted by the Association of Bay Area
Governments (ABAG) to support the 6th Cycle Housing Elements.® This survey examined
rental costs by region, including Marin, Napa, and Sonoma Counties in the North Bay Region.
The survey concluded that when accounting for ADUs rented at market rates, and ADUs rented
at discounted rates to families and friends, 29 percent are affordable to very low income

10 https://adumarin.org/thinking (Accessed March 6, 2023).

1 https://www.nytimes.com/2023/01/29/health/elderly-housing-adu.html (Accessed Mar. 6, 2023). See Appendix B.
12 Jane Jacobs, The Death and Life of Great American Cities (Random House 1961).

13 https://www.casitacoalition.org/adu-blog-info-for-homeowners/ (Accessed March 6, 2023).

14 https://www.nytimes.com/2023/01/29/health/elderly-housing-adu.html (Accessed March 6, 2023).

15 https://abag.ca.gov/our-work/housing/rhna-regional-housing-needs-allocation (Accessed March 6, 2023).

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 4 of 21


https://adumarin.org/thinking
https://www.nytimes.com/2023/01/29/health/elderly-housing-adu.html
https://www.casitacoalition.org/adu-blog-info-for-homeowners/
https://www.nytimes.com/2023/01/29/health/elderly-housing-adu.html
https://abag.ca.gov/our-work/housing/rhna-regional-housing-needs-allocation

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

households, 44 percent to low income households, 26 percent to moderate income households,
and 7 percent to above moderate income households. Sausalito undertook a similar survey.®

Based on the responses from the two surveys, it appears that: 16.2 percent of ADUs are projected
to be affordable to very low income households, 32.4 percent to low income households, 32.4
percent to moderate income households, and 18.9 percent to above moderate income households.

Appearance

ADUs come in a variety of flavors. Here is a small sample from Marin.’

Construction costs

As with any construction, the cost varies considerably based on, among other things, the terrain
and the finishes. Construction costs per square foot for ADUs are generally in line with the cost
of building any single family dwelling.'® The four ADUs built in Marin shown above ranged
from $60 to $521 per square foot (2019 costs). However, because of their size, ADUs may be

16 https://housingelementsmarin.org/city-of-sausalito (Accessed March 5, 2023).

17 Upper left photo, https://adumarin.org/spotlights/neighbor-spotlight-brenda-and-donal-in-corte-madera ; Upper
Right photo, https://adumarin.org/spotlights/neighbor-spotlight-cheryl-and-kathy-in-marin; Lower Left photo,
https://adumarin.org/spotlights/neighbor-spotlight-jane-and-doug-in-mill-valley, Lower Right photo,
https://adumarin.org/spotlights/neighbor-spotlight-julie-and-tim-in-san-anselmo, (all Accessed March 31, 2023)
18 The median cost to build an ADU in California is about $150,000 according to a 2021 (using 2019 data) survey
according to calculations by Terner Center staff, page 3. See more: https://www.aducalifornia.org/wp-
content/uploads/2021/04/Implementing-the-Backyard-Revolution.pdf (Accessed March 6. 2023).

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 5 of 21


https://housingelementsmarin.org/city-of-sausalito
https://adumarin.org/spotlights/neighbor-spotlight-brenda-and-donal-in-corte-madera
https://adumarin.org/spotlights/neighbor-spotlight-cheryl-and-kathy-in-marin
https://adumarin.org/spotlights/neighbor-spotlight-jane-and-doug-in-mill-valley
https://adumarin.org/spotlights/neighbor-spotlight-julie-and-tim-in-san-anselmo
https://www.aducalifornia.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Implementing-the-Backyard-Revolution.pdf
https://www.aducalifornia.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/04/Implementing-the-Backyard-Revolution.pdf

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

more amenable to prefab construction and thus less expensive. You can even buy kits from such
retailers as Home Depot, Amazon or others.%°

Constructing an ADU will increase the value of the property. Generally, the subsequent
improvement will be incorporated in the property’s tax bill.?° The property as a whole is not
reassessed, but the county will issue a supplemental tax bill reflecting the increased value of the
property from construction of the ADU.?

Some jurisdictions outside of California waive property tax increases under certain conditions.
For example, in Oregon a special state act granted homeowners in Salem the option of exempting
the value of an accessory dwelling unit (ADU) on their property from their property taxes so
long as they are renting the ADU, including utilities, for a monthly amount affordable for those
at or below 70 percent of the area median income.??

Financing

Generally, property owners finance the construction of ADUs using conventional means, e.g.,
from their savings, equity loans, or by refinancing existing mortgages. Recently, some private
lenders have introduced products to meet the growing ADU building demand.

To build upon the early success of ADU legislation, more financial tools are needed to facilitate
greater ADU development amongst low to moderate income homeowners who do not have
access to cash savings and cannot leverage home equity.?

ADU financing may present some challenges for those without conventional means. Lending
institutions may offer financing options. One institution that the Grand Jury is aware of is
Redwood Credit Union (RCU). Among other things, RCU can take into account the future rental
value of the ADU in order to determine the borrower’s qualifications. RCU can also take over
the fund management of the project, if requested.?*

In other communities local governments have initiated low-interest loan and grant programs,
often with specific conditions designed to keep rents affordable.> Marin County has $5 million
available county-wide for various affordable housing projects.?® However, claimants for these
funds are non-profit developers and other government agencies. Unlike many other communities
in California, Marin County and its municipalities have not created financing programs to assist
individuals in building affordable housing. However, Marin County does have a program

19 https://www.homedepot.com/p/The-Wave-Comfort-ADU-1-Bedroom-410-87-sq-ft-Tiny-Home-Steel-Frame-
Building-Kit-Cabin-Guest-House-TWVP1B410/321417498 (Accessed March 6, 2023).

20 https://www.boe.ca.gov/proptaxes/newconstructionproperty.htm (Accessed March 6, 2023).

2L https://www.sccoplanning.com/ADU/FAQ.aspx (Accessed March 6, 2023).

22 https://www.salemma.gov/adu (Accessed March 6, 2023).

23 https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/ (Accessed March 6, 2023).

24 https://www.redwoodcu.org/loans/home/mortgage/construction-loans/ (Accessed March 6, 2023).

% See https://www.sccoplanning.com/Portals/2/County/adu/ADU%20L 0an%20Program%20Summary%202021.pdf
(Accessed March 6, 2023).

2% The available funding includes roughly $2.3 million in County Affordable Housing Funds (including a one-for-
one match from the State Permanent Housing Allocation), $2.4 million in new HOME-ARP funds through the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD), and $600,000 in Community Development Block Grant
funds specific to housing projects, also allocated by HUD.

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 6 of 21


https://www.homedepot.com/p/The-Wave-Comfort-ADU-1-Bedroom-410-87-sq-ft-Tiny-Home-Steel-Frame-Building-Kit-Cabin-Guest-House-TWVP1B410/321417498
https://www.homedepot.com/p/The-Wave-Comfort-ADU-1-Bedroom-410-87-sq-ft-Tiny-Home-Steel-Frame-Building-Kit-Cabin-Guest-House-TWVP1B410/321417498
https://www.boe.ca.gov/proptaxes/newconstructionproperty.htm
https://www.sccoplanning.com/ADU/FAQ.aspx
https://www.salemma.gov/adu
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/
https://www.redwoodcu.org/loans/home/mortgage/construction-loans/
https://www.sccoplanning.com/Portals/2/County/adu/ADU%20Loan%20Program%20Summary%202021.pdf

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

restricted to residences in unincorporated areas so as to lower or mitigate permitting fees for
private property owners desiring to build an ADU.?’

The California Housing Finance Agency (HFA) has an ADU Grant program for homeowners
with low or moderate income.?® It provides up to $40,000 towards pre-development and non-
recurring closing costs associated with the construction of an ADU. Predevelopment costs
include site preparation, architectural designs, permits, soil tests, impact fees, property survey,
and energy reports. Few, if any, of Marin County’s or cities” websites prominently refer to this
program.

The California Department of Housing and Community Development had these comments for
Marin County by letter dated October 17, 2022:

e Develop a plan that incentivizes and promotes the creation of accessory dwelling units
that can be offered at affordable rent... (Gov. Code, § 65583, subd. (c)(7).)

e Review the production of ADUs once in the planning period. A review of production
should also: (1) assess affordability, (2) conduct a review more than once in the plan
period (e.g., 3-4 times), and (3) commit to a menu of alternative actions that includes
rezoning, if necessary, by a specific date (e.g., within six months of review).

APPROACH

The Grand Jury reviewed a broad range of relevant public information related to the planning,
permitting, financing and building of ADUSs. It did not obtain fee information from every
municipality and special district. Additionally, appropriate information from County staff, and
several knowledgeable people in the field of community planning and development of ADUs in
other Bay Area counties was secured. The Grand Jury received documentation that was relevant
in informing these decision makers and guiding their actions.

Many reports, written materials, and internet resources were studied, including but not limited to:

Recently submitted housing elements by Marin County, Cities, and Towns
California State ADU and relevant housing laws

ADU Affordability Best Practices Guidelines

California HFA ADU Grant Program.

California Department of Housing and Community Development

Marin County Community Development

Understanding the Market: ADUs in Napa and Sonoma County report
ADU Marin website

Napa-Sonoma ADU website.

27 https://www.helloadu.org/marin-adu-services (Accessed March 6, 2023).
28 https://www.calhfa.ca.gov/adu/ (Accessed March 6, 2023).

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 7 of 21


https://www.helloadu.org/marin-adu-services
https://www.calhfa.ca.gov/adu/

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

DISCUSSION

ADUs will allow for increased housing utilizing existing space from single family homes, which
is the bulk of Marin’s housing stock. According to the latest US Census, 62% of all Marin
residences are considered detached residences, i.e., an equivalency to single family homes. Many
of these detached residences could accommodate a second unit. As Table 2 shows, there are
many lots that could theoretically have capacity for an ADU or JADU.,

Table 2:
Estimating How Many Residences in Marin Are Detached
Estimated
Total Number of | Calculated
Residences Detached Percentage
Residences
Belvedere 1,054 931 88.3%
Corte Madera 4,104 2,782 67.8%
Fairfax 3,676 2,447 66.6%
Larkspur 6,652 2,418 36.4%
Mill Valley 6,375 4,550 71.3%
Novato 21,490 12,413 58.2%
Ross 947 900 95.0%
San Anselmo 5,265 3,978 75.6%
San Rafael 24,678 11,496 46.6%
Sausalito 4,332 1,813 41.9%
Tiburon 3,853 2,535 65.8%
Unincorporated 23,188 18,253 78.7%
Total for County 111,570 69,866 62.6%

Source: United States Census, 2020.

ADUs come in all shapes. However, sizes are limited by local regulation. In general, the
minimum size is 150 square feet, and the maximum is 1,200 square feet. There are certain
financial incentives for ADUs of less than 750 square feet.2° By way of comparison, in 1950 the
average American single family home size was 983 square feet.*°

Marin jurisdictions, as shown in Table 1 above, have identified the potential of building at least
1,385 ADUs. The table illustrates the jurisdictions’ projections (based upon historical trends and
their own plans) vary considerably due to multiple factors: typography, willingness to encourage
these developments, and the simple matter of available space. Marin communities could increase
the actual number of ADUs which can be built.3

Marin County has made some efforts to encourage ADUSs. It recently created a new ADU
Technical Assistance program for homeowners to help make the process less overwhelming. The
program provides free feasibility and project management support for qualified homeowners

29 Calif. Gov. Code 65852.2 (f) (3)

30 https://www.investopedia.com/articles/pf/07/mcmansion.asp (Accessed March 6, 2023).

31 Several California governments have adopted various incentive programs which have already increased the
number of ADUs beyond projections. For example, the city of San Diego more than doubled the number of ADUs
since 2021. https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/research-and-policy/san-diego-adu-bonus-program/ (Accessed March
6, 2023).

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 8 of 21


https://www.investopedia.com/articles/pf/07/mcmansion.asp
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/research-and-policy/san-diego-adu-bonus-program/

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

who live in the unincorporated areas of the County provided by HelloADU and paid for by the
County.*? Marin County’s “Make Room for Marin” website provides property owners with a
step-by-step overview of the processes associated with ADU development.®® However, the
County and its towns and cities could do a more to encourage and facilitate the building of
ADUs. There are often unnecessary delays in issuing building permits. San Jose, for example,
offers same day permits in some instances.®*

As part of a state grant program, a partnership was established between ten cities and towns and
the County called “ADUMarin.” This partnership aims to promote the development of ADUs. It
includes a variety of information sources on the County website, https://adumarin.org, providing
interactive workbooks and webinars to assist interested property owners through all aspects of
the ADU process.

Napa Sonoma ADU, in comparison, has at least one full time employee and is supported by
grants from the Napa Valley Community Foundation and Sonoma County Community
Foundation. It provides significantly more comprehensive services and support. Among other
things, it offers an ADU calculator, local ADU rules, an address lookup tool, an ADU workbook,
stories and floor plans, webinars, vendor registry, a newsletter, and social media.®> Additionally,
for a fee, it has an ADU feasibility consult, and permit-ready ADU plans.

On May 25, 2021, the Marin County Board of Supervisors approved an extension to the
Accessory Dwelling Unit Fee Waiver Program, which offers property owners in the
unincorporated areas of the county (which is approximately 27 percent of the population) fee
waivers for the development of ADUs.*® Under the program, in exchange for a property owner’s
agreement to rent their unit at affordable rates, county permit fees for ADUs may be waived up
to the following:

o $10,000 for ADUs that are rented at rates at or below 80 percent the Area Median Income

o $5,000 for ADUs that are rented at rates between 81-120 percent of the Area Median
income

e $2,500 for ADUs that are rented at market-rate

The fees waived may include Community Development Agency fees such as planning, building
and safety, environmental health services, and Department of Public Works fees such as traffic
mitigation.

Impact Fees — Exceptionally Confusing in Spite of State Law

A significant number of Marin homeowners interested in building ADUs on their property are
dissuaded from doing so due to prohibitively high impact and mitigation (a.k.a. connection or
capacity) fees. One ADU professional characterized these fees as “piracy.”

32 https://www.helloadu.org/free-marin-county-services (Accessed March 6, 2023).

33 https://www.marincounty.org/depts/cd/divisions/housing/make-room-for-marin (Accessed March 9, 2023).
34 https://www.sanjoseca.gov/business/development-services-permit-center/accessory-dwelling-units-
adus/preapproved-adus (Accessed April 28, 2023).

3 https://napasonomaadu.org/ (Accessed March 6, 2023).

% https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/cd/housing/affordable-housing/adu-
affordablity/adupacketvfinal (Accessed March 6, 2023).

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 9 of 21


https://adumarin.org/
https://www.helloadu.org/free-marin-county-services
https://www.marincounty.org/depts/cd/divisions/housing/make-room-for-marin
https://www.sanjoseca.gov/business/development-services-permit-center/accessory-dwelling-units-adus/preapproved-adus
https://www.sanjoseca.gov/business/development-services-permit-center/accessory-dwelling-units-adus/preapproved-adus
https://napasonomaadu.org/
https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/cd/housing/affordable-housing/adu-affordablity/adupacketvfinal
https://www.marincounty.org/-/media/files/departments/cd/housing/affordable-housing/adu-affordablity/adupacketvfinal

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

SB 13 created a tiered fee structure that charges ADUs based on their size. This fee structure
takes into consideration the impact of an ADU on a neighborhood’s infrastructure and services,
which is different from the impact created by single-family homes or multifamily buildings.®’
For example, an ADU of less than 750 square feet is likely to have only one bedroom and
unlikely to have school age children living there. This would minimize the impact on schools,
water, and sewers, among other services.

Local governments and Special Districts (listed in Appendix A) can charge a variety of fees for a
development. These fees, commonly known as impact or mitigation fees, go toward
infrastructure development (such as adding lanes or roads or supporting additional traffic) or
other public benefits (such as new parks, schools, or affordable housing). In the wake of the
passage of Proposition 13 in 1978 and the loss of significant property tax revenue, local
governments and school districts have also turned to development fees as a means to generate
revenue. Given that California cities have tightly restricted funding sources, fees are one of the
few ways cities can pay for the indirect costs of growth.*

State law governs the imposition of impact fees on ADUs.*® Nonetheless, the agencies that might
charge impact or mitigation fees have interpreted that state law differently. For example, the new
construction of a detached 700 square foot ADU would incur no connection fee from Marin
Water (formerly MMWD) but would cost $8,675 in NMWD.*® This discrepancy may be a result
of different interpretations of how North Marin Water District interprets the applicable code to
exempt ADUs from connection charges. North Marin Water District reads the code as exempting
only ADUs created within an existing structure. In some instances, school impact fees provide
another example. State law states that such fees are waived for ADUs smaller than 750 square
feet, but many cities waive fees only for ADUs smaller than 500 square feet.*!

Different agencies and municipalities throughout the county charge different fees. For example,
Tiburon requires new and separate utility connections directly between the ADU and the utility.
Consistent with Government Code section 66013, the service may be subject to a connection fee
or capacity charge that is proportionate to the burden of the proposed ADU.*? In Napa and
Sonoma counties, capacity charges for ADUs are waived if the unit is under 499 square feet, and
then based upon a square footage charge for larger units.*® In contrast, those fees in Marin have
reportedly been as much as $41,000.*

These wide variations aside, it is uniformly challenging for a proponent of an ADU in Marin to
get an accurate estimate for impact and connection fees simply by inspecting a town, city, or
special district’s website or even talking directly with staff of the planning and building

37 https://openstates.org/ca/bills/20192020/SB13/ (Accessed March 6, 2023).

38 (Chapter 653, Statutes of 2019); https://openstates.org/ca/bills/20192020/SB13/ (Accessed March 6, 2023).

39 Calif. Gov. Code 65852.2 (f). See Appendix B for the complete text,

40 Northern Marin Water District website.

41 See e.g. https://www.tamdistrict.org/cms/lib/CA01000875/Centricity/Domain/1547/Nicasio%20-
%20Residential.pdf; https://www.cityofbelvedere.org/DocumentCenter/View/79/School-Facilities-Fee?bidld=
(Accessed April 28, 2023).

42 http://www.townoftiburon.org/DocumentCenter/View/3266/594ADU-216222?bidld= (Accessed March 6, 2023).
43 https://www.napasan.com/151/Capacity-Charges (Accessed March 6, 2023).

4 Grand Jury interview.

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 10 of 21


https://openstates.org/ca/bills/20192020/SB13/
https://openstates.org/ca/bills/20192020/SB13/
https://www.tamdistrict.org/cms/lib/CA01000875/Centricity/Domain/1547/Nicasio%20-%20Residential.pdf
https://www.tamdistrict.org/cms/lib/CA01000875/Centricity/Domain/1547/Nicasio%20-%20Residential.pdf
https://www.cityofbelvedere.org/DocumentCenter/View/79/School-Facilities-Fee?bidId=
http://www.townoftiburon.org/DocumentCenter/View/3266/594ADU-21622?bidId=
https://www.napasan.com/151/Capacity-Charges

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

departments. In Belvedere, fees for a 700 square foot attached ADU total $19,530.% Illustrating
the consequence and complexity in understanding permit and fee requirements imposed by
almost every government agency in Marin, we examined the rules imposed by the City of Novato
and connected agencies. We assumed permitting and building two comparable ADUs costing
$350/sq. ft.: one at 700 sqg. ft. and the other at 800 sq. ft. Applying the information set forth in
Novato’s Housing Element Update, reviewing the city and special districts’ fee schedules and
direct conversation with staff members, it is clear individuals face a daunting task in determining
the process and the potential of substantial fees. Here, an ADU larger than 750 sq. feet costs well
over $34,000 in fees. Even when a smaller 700 sq. ft. ADU is proposed, fees exceed $18,000. If
Marin County and municipalities genuinely believe, as they have stated in multiple forums, that
their housing needs can be met by encouraging the building of ADUs, they should re-examine
the various impact fees that they have imposed.

4 https://www.cityofbelvedere.org/DocumentCenter/View/8495/6th-Cycle-Housing-Element-Update _Public-Draft-
Reduced-compressed (Accessed May 9, 2023).

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 11 of 21


https://www.cityofbelvedere.org/DocumentCenter/View/8495/6th-Cycle-Housing-Element-Update_Public-Draft-Reduced-compressed
https://www.cityofbelvedere.org/DocumentCenter/View/8495/6th-Cycle-Housing-Element-Update_Public-Draft-Reduced-compressed

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

Table 3
Estimated Novato ADU Permit and Development Fees
700 sq. ft. 800 sq. ft.
Fee Estimated $ Estimated $

City of Novato
ADU Planning Permit $820.00 exempt $820.00
Building Permit sliding scale $2,156.60 $2,558.40

subtotal $2,156.60 $3,378.40
Novato City Public Facilities Fees
Recreational,Cultural Facilities $4,725.23 exempt $4,725.23
Civic Facilities $847.29 exempt $847.29
General Government Systems $367.54 exempt $367.54
Open Space $1,022.02 exempt $1,022.02
Drainage $580.68 exempt $580.68

subtotal $0.00 $7542.76
Novato City Traffic Impact Fees
Streets & Intersections $2,601 exempt $2,601.00
Transit Facilities $89.84 exempt $89.84
Corporation Yard $56.07 exempt $56.07

subtotal $0.00 $2,746.91
Outside Agency Impact Fees
Novato Unified School District $4.08 /sq. ft. exempt $3,264.00

$7,617.50 $8.700.00

Novato Sanitary District* $12,000/dwelling unit
Novato Fire District $.0622/sq. ft. exempt exempt
North Marin Water District* $7,640/ADU plus $8,675.00 $8,675.00

subtotal $16,292.50 $20,639.00
Subtotal Fees (estimated)
City $2,156.60 $13,668.07
Outside Agencies $16,292.50 $20,639.00
TOTAL FEES (estimated) $18,449.10 $34,307.07

Source: City of Novato Housing Element Update, November 2022, C34-C36, Novato Sanitary District:
Pro-rata of 1,200 sq. ft, North Marin Water District, Facility Reserve Charge Study, Final Report,
November 15, 2022, Grand Jury interviews. The estimated amounts were calculated March 17, 2023.

Marin County Civil Grand Jury

Page 12 of 21



Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

Legalizing Marin’s Existing Non-Conforming Second Units

According to a 2016 report by McKinsey and Company entitled “A Tool Kit to Close
California’s Housing Gap: 3.5 Million Homes by 2025,”¢ one way to encourage homeowners to
add ADUs is to create an amnesty path for ADUSs that are not properly permitted.*” Some
jurisdictions have been at the forefront of encouraging ADUs. Part of their success has been the
legalization of existing non-conforming units through amnesty programs. It is estimated that 40
percent to 70 percent of all construction throughout Marin is done without permits.*® This
number includes all forms of construction, from adding a new water heater to building an in-law
unit.

For example, Fairfax has an amnesty program in which all penalties are waived and all ADUs
(legalizing illegal existing ones or permitting new ones) housing the elderly get 50 percent off
the permit fees normally charged.*® San Mateo County had a limited-term ADU Amnesty
program (beginning in October/November 2018), which allowed property owners to bring an
unpermitted unit into compliance. It featured a low-cost initial inspection as well as detailed
guidance on any required improvements necessary to meet the current building code. All fines
for unpermitted construction were waived, and planning and building permit fees were either
waived or significantly reduced during the initial pilot phase. Code enforcement actions were
also suspended, allowing potential applicants the opportunity to explore the program without risk
of penalty.>°

ADUs can help address housing needs of Marin’s aging population

Marin County’s Age Forward Plan (2020) suggests that ADUs could help older adults.>! The
share of older adults in Marin will continue to increase and is projected to reach 35 percent of the
county’s population by 2025 and 38 percent by 2030.52 The Age Forward plan offered three
action items in this regard:

» Community: Explore opportunities to build ADUs on properties; advocate for measures
to expand ADU programs throughout the county.

* County Leadership: Foster increase of ADUs, encourage greater awareness of and
research for ADU programs and opportunities for residents, explore permit fee waivers
and fee reductions, including fee adjustments to incentivize affordable rental units

46 See
https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/featured%20insights/urbanization/closing%20californias%20housing
%20gap/closing-californias-housing-gap-full-report.pdf, (Accessed March 6, 2023).

47 https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/blog/san-diego-adu-bonus-program/ (Accessed March 6, 2023).

48 Marin Builders Exchange survey. https://www.marinbuilders.com/permit-simplicity-and-customer-satisfaction
(accessed March 6, 2023).

49 https://www.townoffairfax.org/opportunities-for-adu-jadu-permitting-and-construction/ (Accessed March 6,
2023).

%0 https://www.smcgov.org/planning/accessory-dwelling-unit-amnesty-health-safety-certification-program
(Accessed March 6, 2023).

51 «“Age Forward, a framework for an Age-Friendly County of Marin,” January 2020
https://www.marinhhs.org/sites/default/files/files/servicepages/2022_06/cc_af com_plan_final ada.pdf (Accessed
March 15, 2023)

52 California Department of Finance. (2019). Population projections for California. Retrieved from
https://dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Demographics/Projections/ (Accessed March 6, 2023).

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 13 of 21


https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/featured%20insights/urbanization/closing%20californias%20housing%20gap/closing-californias-housing-gap-full-report.pdf
https://www.mckinsey.com/~/media/mckinsey/featured%20insights/urbanization/closing%20californias%20housing%20gap/closing-californias-housing-gap-full-report.pdf
https://ternercenter.berkeley.edu/blog/san-diego-adu-bonus-program/
https://www.marinbuilders.com/permit-simplicity-and-customer-satisfaction
https://www.townoffairfax.org/opportunities-for-adu-jadu-permitting-and-construction/
https://www.smcgov.org/planning/accessory-dwelling-unit-amnesty-health-safety-certification-program
https://www.marinhhs.org/sites/default/files/files/servicepages/2022_06/cc_af_com_plan_final_ada.pdf
https://dof.ca.gov/Forecasting/Demographics/Projections/

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

* County Departments: Promote ADU programs and facilitate advocacy for greater
flexibility, work together to advocate for solutions (Aging & Adult Services, Community
Development Agency).>

Confusion Reigns

Much of the public is confused about what the requirements are for an ADU.>* The Grand Jury’s
research has found that some jurisdictions in Marin have not updated their planning and building
policies to conform with current California ADU laws. Some people do not know whether an
ADU requires a lot split, must be rented, what size refrigerator or sink is required, or what the
sewer fees would be. Potential ADU owners (not just those with limited incomes) would benefit
from a central “one stop shop” for this information. The County and local municipalities would
be better served if this “one stop shop” is identified by each municipality to be the authoritative
source for all local information. Ideally it would become linked with Napa Sonoma ADU. At the
very least, the ADU Marin effort should become more closely aligned with the Napa Sonoma
ADU programs. In addition, each municipality should clearly point to such a source of assistance
on its website. For example, Fairfax has a model amnesty program, but there is no obvious link
to it from the building department website. In addition to the Napa and Sonoma counties efforts,
we reviewed the successful San Mateo “Second Unit Resource Center,” which has demonstrated
that a one stop shop open to all has value:

SECOND UNIT

Q RESOURCES CENTER
6 SAN MATEO COUNTY

Getting Started

Are you interested in building a second unit? Here’s information on how to get it one.

Getting Started Design Permits Construction Move In

Source: https://secondunitcentersmc.org/how/

53 «“Age Forward, a framework for an Age-Friendly County of Marin,” January 2020
https://www.marinhhs.org/sites/default/files/files/servicepages/2022_06/cc_af com_plan_final _ada.pdf (Accessed
March 15, 2023)

5 See e.g. https://nextdoor.com/p/y-BghLzP7XWt?view=detail&init_source=search&query=adu (Accessed March
6, 2023).

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 14 of 21


https://secondunitcentersmc.org/how/
https://www.marinhhs.org/sites/default/files/files/servicepages/2022_06/cc_af_com_plan_final_ada.pdf
https://nextdoor.com/p/y-BghLzP7XWt?view=detail&init_source=search&query=adu

Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

If Marin is serious about helping individuals build ADUs, our review of current and planned
efforts initiated by Marin’s cities and municipalities leads us to three obvious conclusions:

e Currently, required information is not easily obtained either from officials or contained
on agencies’ websites.

e Fee information from Marin’s water, fire, sanitary, and school districts is not easy to
understand and follow.

e Marin’s mandated housing goals can be met when every public agency in the county
aligns its policies toward these objectives. Cooperation should be the mantra. It benefits
everyone.

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 15 of 21



Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

FINDINGS

F1.  More housing in Marin is needed and ADUs are one solution.

F2.  Many homeowners lack information and knowledge about ADU development, and
Marin’s jurisdictions are not always helpful to homeowners seeking information about
ADU development.

F3. It is often difficult, if not impossible, for a Marin homeowner to determine the planning,
building, connection, capacity and impact fees associated with developing an ADU in a
particular jurisdiction.

F4.  Many Bay Area cities and counties, for example Napa and Sonoma, have implemented
comprehensive websites and related support to help homeowners create ADUs.

F5.  ADUs may be rented affordably and provide additional benefits for older adults and their
caregivers.

F6.  Most Marin jurisdictions could provide better resources offering or identifying financing
incentives for ADU development.

F7. Impact, connection, and capacity fees vary considerably throughout the County and such
fees can be a disincentive to homeowners considering ADU development.

F8.  Not every jurisdiction in Marin has updated its planning and building policies to conform
with current California ADU laws.

F9.  Granting amnesty, following safety inspection, to existing non-conforming second units
could help Marin meet its housing obligations.

F10. ADU Marin and HelloADU are a good start. However, compared to several other Bay

Area cities and counties, for example Napa and Sonoma, they could be substantially
enhanced and expanded.

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 16 of 21



Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

RECOMMENDATIONS

R1.

R2.

R3.

R4.

R5.

RG6.

On or before December 31, 2023, the Marin County Board of Supervisors should direct
the Community Development Agency's Development Priority Setting Committee to:

1) Identify available funding/financing information for residents who need help with the
cost of building an ADU,

2) Transmit the collected information to all the jurisdictions represented on the
Committee.

3) Start a continuous monitoring program to update the information sources as they
become available.

By December 1, 2023, begin investigation to consider an amnesty program to legalize
existing unpermitted second units. Add a marketing communications plan so that citizens
can be made aware of it.

By December 1, 2023, begin the process of merging and/or collaborating with
Napa/Sonoma ADU, and hiring a full-time Marin ADU Program Coordinator. The
program coordinator should work with all jurisdictions on the development of ADUs and
identify impact and connection fees within each jurisdiction.

By December 1, 2023, begin a feasibility assessment of waiving or significantly lowering
impact and connection fees for units smaller than 750 square feet.

By December 1, 2023, begin creating plans to accelerate the permit approval process for
ADU applications to within 30 days, or less, of submission. Implement such plans no
later than July 1, 2024.

By December 1, 2023, begin feasibility assessments of new incentives for ADU
development, such as pre-approved plans, technical assistance, property tax relief,
development fee waivers, and forgivable loans; implement at least one such incentive no
later than July 1, 2024.

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 17 of 21



Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

REQUIRED RESPONSES

Pursuant to Penal Code section 933.05, the Grand Jury requires responses from the following
governing bodies:

e School Districts

O OO O O O 0O O O O O O O0oO OO OO OO O0

Bolinas-Stinson School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)
Kentfield School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)

Laguna Joint School District Board of Directors (F7, R4)
Lagunitas School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)
Larkspur-Corte Madera School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)
Marin County Office of Education (F7, R4)

Mill Valley School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)

Miller Creek Elementary School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)
Nicasio School District Board of Trustee (F7, R4)

Novato Unified School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)

Reed Union School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)

Ross School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)

Ross Valley School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)

San Rafael City Schools Board of Education (F7, R4)
Sausalito/Marin City School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)
Shoreline Unified School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)
Tamalpais Union High School District Board of Trustees (F7, R4)

e Municipalities

O O O O O O O O O O O O

City of Belvedere (F1-F13, R1-R6)

City of Larkspur (F1-F13, R1-R6)

City of Mill Valley (F1-F13, R1-R6)
City of Novato (F1-F13, R1-R6)

City of San Rafael (F1-F13, R1-R6)
City of Sausalito (F1-F13, R1-R6)
Marin County Board of Supervisors (F1-F13, R1-R6)
Town of Corte Madera (F1-F13, R1-R6)
Town of Fairfax (F1-F13, R1-R6)

Town of Ross (F1-F13, R1-R6)

Town of San Anselmo (F1-F13, R1-R6)
Town of Tiburon (F1-F13, R1-R6)

e \Water Districts

O O O O

Bolinas Community Public Utility District (F7, R4)
Marin Municipal Water District (F7, R4)

North Marin Water District (F7, R4)

Stinson Beach County Water District (F7, R4)

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 18 of 21



Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

e Fire Protection Districts

Bolinas Fire Protection District (F7, R4)

Central Marin Fire Department (F7, R4)
Inverness Public Utility District (F7, R4)
Kentfield Fire Protection District (F7, R4)
Marin County Fire Department (F7, R4)
Marinwood Community Services District (F7, R4)
Novato Fire Protection District (F7, R4)

Ross Valley Fire Department (F7, R4)

Southern Marin Fire Protection District (F7, R4)
Stinson Beach Fire Protection District (F7, R4)
Tiburon Fire Protection District (F7, R4)

O O 0O O O O O O O 0 O

e Sanitary Districts

Almonte Sanitary District (F7, R4)

Alto Sanitary District (F7, R4)

Central Marin Sanitation Agency (F7, R4)
Corte Madera Sanitary District No. 2 (F7, R4)
Homestead Valley Sanitary District (F7, R4)
Las Gallinas Valley Sanitary District (F7, R4)
Novato Sanitary District (F7, R4)

Richardson Bay Sanitary District (F7, R4)
Ross Valley Sanitary District (F7, R4)

San Rafael Sanitation District (F7, R4)
Sausalito Marin City Sanitary District (F7, R4)
Sewerage Agency of Southern Marin (F7, R4)
Tiburon Sanitary District 5 (F7, R4)

O OO0 O O O O 0O 0O O O O O

The governing bodies indicated above should be aware that the comment or response of the
governing body must be conducted in accordance with Penal Code section 933 (c) and subject to
the notice, agenda and open meeting requirements of the Brown Act.

Note: At the time this report was prepared information was available at the websites listed.

Reports issued by the Civil Grand Jury do not identify individuals interviewed. Penal Code Section 929 requires that reports of
the Grand Jury not contain the name of any person or facts leading to the identity of any person who provides information to
the Civil Grand Jury. The California State Legislature has stated that it intends the provisions of Penal Code Section 929
prohibiting disclosure of witness identities to encourage full candor in testimony in Grand Jury investigations by protecting the
privacy and confidentiality of those who participate in any Civil Grand Jury investigation.

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 19 of 21



Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

APPENDIX A

Impact, connection, and capacity fees vary considerably within these districts throughout Marin

County.

Water Fire Protection Sanitary
School Districts Districts Districts Districts
Bolinas
Bolinas-Stinson Community Bolinas Almonte
Public Utility
Kentfield Marin Municipal |Central Marin  |Alto
Inverness
Lagun North Marin . . ntral Marin
aguna ° a Public Utility Central Ma
. Stinson Beach )
Lagunitas Kentfield Corte Madera

County

Larkspur-Corte Madera

Marin County

Homestead Valley

. ) Mari

Marin County Office of armwoqd .
. Community Las Gallinas
Education .
Services

Mill Valley Novato Novato
Miller Creek Ross Valley Richardson Bay
Nicasio Southern Marin |Ross Valley
Novato Unified Stinson Beach |San Rafael

Reed Union Tiburon Sausalito/Marin City
Ross Southern Marin
Ross Valley Tiburon

San Rafael City

Sausalito/Marin City

Shoreline Unified

Tamalpais Union

Marin County Civil Grand Jury

Page 20 of 21




Build More ADUs - An Rx for Increasing Marin’s Housing Supply

APPENDIX B

For reference only: These are the primary laws affecting ADU development:

o AB 68/AB 881 - Requires local agencies to approve or deny an ADU project more quickly
and prohibits local agencies from adopting ADU ordinances that impose minimum lot size
requirements, set certain maximum dimensions, or require replacement off-street parking in
certain situations. Also allows for an ADU as well as a “junior” ADUs where certain access,
setback and other criteria are met.

o SB 13 - Provides, until January 1, 2025, that cities may not condition approval of ADU
building permit applications on the applicant being the “owner-applicant” of either the primary
dwelling or the ADU, and prohibits impact fees on ADUs under 750 square feet.

o AB 587 - Provides that local agencies may now allow ADUs to be sold or conveyed
separately from a primary residence if certain conditions are met. This law is expected to
increase the ability of affordable housing organizations to sell deed-restricted ADUs to eligible
low-income homeowners.

o AB 670 - Prevents homeowners' associations from barring ADUs. AB 670 makes unlawful

any HOA condition that "prohibits or unreasonably restricts" the construction of ADUs on
single-family residential lots.

o AB 671 - Requires local governments to include in their General Plan housing elements plans
to incentivize and promote the creation of affordable ADUs. The law also requires HCD
(Housing and Community Development) to develop, by December 31, 2020, a list of state grants
and financial incentives for ADU development.

O New California legislation went into effect on January 1st, 2023, that allows 2-story ADUs in
some instances, provides more flexibility in where ADUs can be located on a property, and
makes obtaining an ADU permit a more transparent and streamlined process.

ARTICLE 2. Adoption of Regulations [65850 - 65863.13] (Article 2 added by Stats.
1965, Ch. 1880.)

65852.2. https://california.public.law/codes/ca gov%27t code section 65852.2

(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 343, Sec. 1) by Stats. 2022, Ch. 664,
Sec. 2.5. (SB 897) Effective January 1, 2023.)

Marin County Civil Grand Jury Page 21 of 21


https://california.public.law/codes/ca_gov%27t_code_section_65852.2

Responses To Grand Jury Reports
Summary Of Penal Code Requirements

Responses to a Confidential Pre-Release Copy of the Report: Under California Penal Code §933.05(f),
a copy of the report will be sent for information purposes to each public agency addressed in the report
before it is released publicly. No official response is required but if any fact is found to be in error the Grand
Jury will consider a suggested correction. The elected agency or department head to whom the report is
addressed will receive the copy:

“two (2) working days prior to its public release and after the approval of the presiding judge.
No officer, agency, department, or governing body of a public agency shall disclose any
contents of the report prior to the public release of the final report.”

Deadline for Responding: Penal Code §933 provides that the governing body of the public agency shall
respond to the presiding judge within 90 days after the grand jury submits its final report to the public
agency. In the case of an elected officer, the response to the presiding judge must be made within 60 days
of that date.

Responses to Findings: Penal Code §933.05(a) provides for only two (2) acceptable responses to the
findings in a grand jury report:

(1) The respondent agrees with the finding.

(2) The respondent disagrees wholly or partially with the finding, in which case the response shall
specify the portion of the finding that is disputed and shall include an explanation of the reasons
therefor.

Responses to Recommendations: Penal Code §933.05(b) provides for only four (4) acceptable responses
with respect to recommendations in a grand jury report (emphasis added):

(1) The recommendation has been implemented, with a summary regarding the implemented
action.

(2) The recommendation has not yet been implemented, but will be implemented in the future,
with a timeframe for implementation.

(3) The recommendation requires further analysis, with an explanation and the scope and parameters
of an analysis or study, and a timeframe for the matter to be prepared for discussion by the officer
or head of the agency or department being investigated or reviewed, including the governing body
of the public agency when applicable. This timeframe shall not exceed six months from the date
of publication of the grand jury report.

(4) The recommendation will not be implemented because it is not warranted or is not reasonable,
with an explanation therefor.

Elected Official as Respondent: Penal Code §933.05(¢c) provides that if a finding or recommendation of
the grand jury addresses budgetary or personnel matters of a county agency or department by an elected
officer, then:

“both the agency or department head and the board of supervisors shall respond if requested by
the grand jury, but the response of the board of supervisors shall address only those budgetary
or personnel matters over which it has some decision making authority. The response of the
elected agency or department head shall address all aspects of the findings or recommendations
affecting his or her agency or department.”



RESPONSE FORM: 2022-2023 Marin Civil Grand Jury Report

Report Title:

Respondent/Agency Name:

Submitter Name: Title:

FINDINGS

= Agree with the findings numbered:

= Disagree partially with the findings numbered:

= Disagree wholly with the findings numbered:

(Attach a statement specifying any portions of the findings that are disputed; include
an explanation of the reasons therefor.)

RECOMMENDATIONS

= Recommendations numbered have been implemented.

(Attach a summary describing the implemented actions.)

= Recommendations numbered have not yet been implemented,
but will be implemented in the future.

(Attach a timeframe for the implementation.)

» Recommendations numbered require further analysis.

(Attach an explanation and the scope and parameters of an analysis or study, and a
timeframe for the matter to be prepared for discussion by the officer or director of
the agency or department being investigated or reviewed, including the governing
body of the public agency when applicable. This timeframe shall not exceed six
months from the date of publication of the grand jury report.)

= Recommendations numbered will not be implemented
because they are not warranted or are not reasonable.

(Attach an explanation.)

Date: Signed:

Number of pages attached:



	Agenda 8-18-23
	minutes 8-4-23
	3C Memo
	3cSPB-BidResultsSummary
	3cRes.#23-1275-Award-2023PipeBurst
	4a MemoConn-Fees-2023-24
	4a Res 23-1274-Conn-Fees-2023-24-DRAFT
	4b CivilGrandJury-ADU (1)



